NATIONS CCPR

Di str.

International covenant GENERAL

on civil and
- . CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
political rights 22 January 1998

ENGLI SH
Oiginal: FRENCH

HUMAN RI GHTS COWM TTEE
Si xty-first session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 1626t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 27 Cctober 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M. CHANET

later: M. EL SHAFEI

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF THE
COVENANT

Fourth periodic report of lraq

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session.

GE. 97-18832 (E)



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF THE
COVENANT (agenda item 4) (continued)

Fourth periodic report of Iraq (CCPR/ C/ 103/ Add.2; CCPR/ C/ 61/ QIRQ 4)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, M. Dhari K. Mahnpod,
M. Saad A Aoon, M. Basil Yousif and M. Abdul Minem Jawad (lraq) took
places at the Committee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON wel conmed the Iragi delegation and invited its head to
i ntroduce the fourth periodic report of his country (CCPR/ C/ 103/ Add. 2).

3. M. MAHMOOD (Iraq) said that the Iraqi delegation found it gratifying to
resume its invariably fruitful and high-level dialogue with the Cormittee and
expl ai ned that his Government had endeavoured to prepare its fourth periodic
report in accordance with the Comrittee's guidelines and general conments.

4, In the introduction to its report (paras. 1 to 4), the Government had
pl aced speci al enphasis on the interdependence of civil and political rights
and economi c, social and cultural rights, and had drawn attention to the fact
that the permanent bl ockade to which Irag had been subjected for over seven
years for purely political reasons continued to have a catastrophic inmpact on
the right of lIraqi citizens to life, health and food. For want of nedicines
and adequate food, for exanple, the infant nortality rate had increased

al arm ngly and nore than one quarter of the popul ati on who woul d constitute
the country's future generations was already handi capped owing to the genera
mal nutrition prevailing in the country.

5. Despite its determination to ensure greater respect for the fundanenta
rights of lraqi citizens, the Governnent was experiencing the greatest
difficulty in coping with conditions that were increasingly resenbling
genoci de and consequently in ensuring the inplementation of the rights set out
in the Covenant. For it was clear that the fundamental principle of the right
of peoples to self-determ nation, to freely determ ne their political status,
to freely dispose of their natural wealth and resources, and not to be
deprived of their own neans of subsistence - on which respect for all the
other rights enbodied in international human rights instruments was based -
was being systematically violated in Ilrag. |Its violation had begun with the
intervention of the United States and the coalition forces in the northern
part of the country in April 1991, and since that tine Iraq had been the scene
of bl oody conflicts which were continuing in conplete disregard for the nost

el ementary rights of its citizens. Mreover, the ban on flights by Iraq
aircraft north of the 36th parallel and south of the 32nd parallel w thout any
I egal justification or international decision was a flagrant violation not
only of lIraq's sovereignty over its airspace but also of the people's right to
adequate food, since the prohibition also applied to crop dusting planes in
agricultural areas, with the result that harvests had declined by 50 per cent
during the previous five years.

6. Furthernore, international sanctions were still being applied
against lIraq despite the fact that it had fulfilled its obligations under



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 3

Security Council resolutions, and he enphasi zed that the “food for oil”

menor andum of under standi ng signed on 20 May 1996 had resulted in only a very
l[imted inprovenent in Iraq's food situation, since deliberate efforts had
been made to hanper its inplenentation in violation of the nost basic rights
of lraq' s people to health and food.

7. Iraq's fourth periodic report described in detail the steps that the
Iraqi authorities had been obliged to take to deal with the situation created
by the econom ¢ sanctions inposed on the country, and in particular to correct
t he i nbal ances brought about in social relationships as a result of the
absence of food security and the consequent increase in the crine rate. The
report al so described, in paragraphs 14 to 16, the neasures adopted by the
Iragi authorities to bring to justice persons who violated the rights set out
in the Covenant and, in respect of the application of article 6 of the
Covenant (paras. 22 to 31 of the report), what they had done to provide the
Iragi people with the best possible protection against the nost flagrant
violations of their fundanental rights. He enphasized in that connection that
nost of the decrees adopted by the Revol uti on Conmand Council, whose

provi sions m ght appear to be extrenely severe, were essentially of a
deterrent nature, and that only rarely were the puni shments envi saged actual ly
carried out. In any case, the decrees in question would all be abrogated as
soon as the situation in the country returned to normal when the Penal Code
coul d once again be applied.

8. Par agraphs 35 to 47 of the fourth periodic report dealt with the

i npl enmentation of articles 9 and 10 of the Covenant and described in detai

the provisions of Iraqgi legislation on the arrest, detention and trial of
persons suspected of having comritted offences. |In that connection he once
agai n enphasi zed that, owing to the bl ockade inposed on Iraq, conditions of
detention in prisons had deteriorated considerably, particularly in terms of
health care and food. Nevertheless, the Iraqi authorities were making every
effort to ensure that prisoners were not suffering nore than the popul ati on at
large as a result of a situation that was clearly not of their making.

9. Referring to the application of article 14 of the Covenant (paras. 52
to 61 of the report), he said that everything possible had been done to nake
sure that accused persons had a fair trial and to ensure the independence of
the judiciary, and in particular that the mlitary courts were conmpetent only
to hear offences committed by military personnel subject to the Code of
MIlitary Justice. Furthernore, referring to article 18 of the Covenant, he
recal l ed that freedomof religion had al ways been fully guaranteed in Iraq and
said that the recently anmended article 372 of the Penal Code, nentioned in
paragraph 71 of the report, made it a punishable offence for anyone to attack
the dignity or beliefs of any religious community. Furthermore, with
reference to article 19 of the Covenant, he said that a |arge nunber of
publications had been distributed on human rights matters, particularly by
associ ations of journalists, the National Union of Young Iraqgis, the Nationa
Union of lraqgi Students and the Chanber of Conmerce; those publications
denonstrated that the right to freedom of opinion was fully respected in the
country. The Iraqi authorities could provide the Cormittee with copies of
sonme of those publications; in that way it would know what sort of subjects
were dealt wth.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 4

10. As for the inplenentation of article 25 of the Covenant, concerning the
right of citizens to take part in the conduct of public affairs, he drew
attention to paragraphs 79-83 of the report which described devel opnents in
the country since the subnmission of the third periodic report. Progress along
the path of denocracy, which had continued in the political sphere despite the
difficulties being experienced by the country, had resulted in the maintenance
of the Baath party at the head of public affairs. The party was itself
actively encouragi ng young persons to participate in political activities at
all levels with a viewto achieving the objectives of liberty and denocracy
whi ch were indispensable in ensuring full respect for human rights in the
country.

11. Article 27 of the Covenant was of particular inportance to lraq in
view of its ethnic and religious mnorities. |Iragi |egislation on the

subj ect had been discussed in previous reports and considered in the course

of the dialogue between the Iraqgi delegation and the Conmttee during the
consideration of the third periodic report (see para. 84 of the fourth report)
on the subject of discrinmnation against mnorities and the right of peoples
to self-determnation. Iraq, which was trying to ensure that mnorities could
exercise their rights without any discrimnation, was experiencing unlawfu
interference in its internal affairs and with its sovereignty; that was
hanpering the initiation of a national dialogue between the State and its
citizens in the region of Kurdistan, where attenpts were being nade to
consolidate the region's autonony. The northern part of Iraqg was continuing
to experience Turkish incursions as well as interference by other countries
that were trying to disrupt the dialogue in order to maintain the status quo
and their own interests. |Iraqg had consistently enphasized that a solution to
the situation in the northern part of the country could be found only through
a national dialogue without foreign interference, so that the citizens of
Iragi Kurdistan would be able to exercise their rights on the basis of respect
for the territorial integrity of Irag and autononmous institutions.

12. Hi s del egation was prepared to reply to questions about the report. It
was nmaking avail able to nmenbers of the Commttee two copies of the new Iraqi
Constitution as well as a review entitled Human Ri ghts.

13. The CHAI RPERSON t hanked the del egation for its introductory statenent
and invited it to reply to the questions put in the first part of the list of
i ssues to be taken up in connection with the consideration of the fourth
periodic report of Irag.

14. M. MAHMOOD (Iraq), replying first to question 1 concerning
extraj udi cial executions, disappearances and torture and the application of
articles 6 and 7 of the Covenant, said that Iraq had reviewed the rel evant
provisions of the Constitution and lragi |egislation in previous periodic
reports and in the fourth report. The delegation had on a nunber of occasions
provi ded exanpl es of judicial decisions which denpnstrated that those

provi sions were applied whenever the Constitution or laws were violated. He
brought to the attention of the Conmttee two decisions handed down by Iraq
courts (see para. 32 of the report and its annex 1, not distributed). The
first concerned two persons who had tortured a suspect to death; they had been
sentenced to 10 years' inprisonnent and cashiered. He added that they had
been brought before the crimnal division of the Court of Cassation and been



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 5

found guilty of intentional hom cide under article 410 of the Penal Code. The
second case nentioned in paragraph 32 was that of a person held in custody

wi t hout a warrant, and he expl ained that the nmother of the person tortured had
brought proceedings and that the civil court had awarded her damages whi ch had
been paid by the adnministration that enployed the person responsible for the
torture - who had been punished in accordance with the Penal Code.

15. Wth respect to the acts which had all egedly been conmtted in the
course of operations in the northern and southern parts of the country, he

poi nted out that those two regions were not under Iraqi authority. How could
Iragi police and security forces have committed illegal acts in those regions?
If menbers of the Committee had specific cases in mnd, they should indicate
the facts, dates and the persons concerned so that action could be taken to
det ermi ne whet her any such viol ations had actually taken place. The question
was worded too vaguely.

16. On the question of disappearances, he explained that a non-governnenta
commi ssion had been instructed to | ook into cases of di sappeared persons and
that the Government was doing everything in its power to follow up its work
official files which could be consulted contained detailed information on

di sappearances. H's Governnment was prepared to cooperate with the Commttee
on the subject and an exchange of correspondence had al ready taken place
between the Cormittee and the Iraqi authorities.

17. Question 2 concerned the use of weapons by nenbers of the police and
security forces. The police were subject in particular to the Law concerning
the functions and obligations of the police, and police officers whose

adm nistrative acts were in violation of the Law incurred disciplinary
sanctions. Mreover, any nenber of the police who commtted an act
constituting a crimnal offence under the Law was brought before a crimna
court to be tried in accordance with the Penal Code. That principle was
illustrated by the two exanples which he had given and which were nmentioned in
par agraph 32 of the report.

18. Wth regard to the death penalty (question 3), he explained that the
nunber of of fences punishable by death had i ncreased during the years
following the inposition of the enbargo on Iraq precisely because the enbargo
had brought about an increase in the crine rate. |Iraqgq, which had to protect
its citizens and society in general, was one of the States which continued to
i npose the death penalty for certain crines; that was not contrary to the
provi sions of the Covenant, as indicated by the Conmittee's general coment 6
on article 6 (sixteenth session). It was noteworthy that, before the

i nposition of the enbargo, the crines punishable by the death penalty in Iraq
had i ndeed been “the npbst serious”, as indicated in the Covenant, and that
that penalty was inposed only in exceptional cases. Hi s del egation enphasized
that, in accordance with paragraph 7 of general coment 6, the procedura

guar antees prescribed in the Covenant were observed and that Iraq al so applied
the principles set out in article 14.

19. Since the Iraqi delegation had received the |ist of issues to be taken
up in connection with consideration of the fourth periodic report only on the
day of its departure for Geneva, it was unable to provide accurate and
official figures on the nunber of persons who had been sentenced to death, the



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 6

nunber who had actually been executed and the nunber who had been ammesti ed.
The del egati on woul d contact the appropriate services and the information
requested woul d be conmunicated to the Cormittee at a | ater date.

20. Question 4 concerning the right to a fair trial had al ready been

di scussed in detail in the third periodic report (CCPR/ C/64/Add.6). At that
time the del egation had stated that a general ammesty had been declared in
respect of the persons who had participated in the 1991 mutiny, and it now
added that the amesty did not cover persons found guilty of intentiona
hom ci de. Question 4 was too general and ambi guous and the del egati on was
unable to reply to the various points raised in the absence of specific nanes.
It could only state that the death penalty as a form of |egal punishment was
pronounced only on the basis of the law, in accordance with | egal procedure
and by a court. It had nothing to add to what had al ready been stated in the
third periodic report.

21. Hi s del egation was surprised that question 5 referred to Revol ution
Conmand Council| Decree No. 111 of 1990, which corresponded to the period
covered by the third periodic report; that Decree had been repeal ed over six
years previously. As for the clarification requested in connection with the
meani ng of the expression “di shonourable conduct” in paragraph 38 (c) (iii) of
the report, he explained that it inplied offences involving theft, corruption
or honour, which were not covered by the amesty.

22. Referring to question 6, nanely, torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading
puni shment and freedom of conscience, he pointed out that lraqi |aw did not
provi de for stoning, flogging, or branding. Anputation of the hand was a
puni shment designed essentially to deter and prevent, and even to intim date;
however, although it existed on paper, it had been carried out only three or
four times. A large proportion of sentences entailing anputation had been
comuted to ternms of inprisonnment for two years. His delegation would
conmuni cate to the Committee the actual nunber of such cases as well as
figures revealing the decline in the nunber of crinmes commtted, which
denonstrated the effectiveness of that deterrent. He added that the question
whet her nedi cal personnel had the right to refuse to participate in such

puni shments was rel evant not in the context of article 18 of the Covenant but
of the general obligation of nmedical personnel and surgeons to do their

prof essional duty. |In any event, the problemhardly ever arose in practice
since such punishnments were carried out only in exceptional cases.

23. Wth respect to question 7, he explained that his country's Constitution
and legislation - and specifically the Act on the National Assenbly and
Legi sl ative Council of Iraqi Kurdistan and the Act on |local assenblies -
guaranteed to all citizens, w thout any discrimnination, exercise of the rights
set forth in article 25 of the Covenant through participation in the conduct
of public affairs. As had al ready been pointed out, the situation had changed
somewhat since the report had been drafted. The right to express disagreenent
at the political I|evel was guaranteed by the Constitution and by | egislation
such as the Political Parties Act, which guaranteed pluralismand would
undoubt edly pronote pluralismonce the situation in the country had been
stabilized. Several political parties were active at the present tine and it
woul d be possible to formnew parties when current exceptional conditions were
a thing of the past.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 7

24. Wth reference to the special security courts and question 8, his

del egation wi shed to state that Iraq's Constitution and |egislation, and
particularly the Judiciary Act, defined the conpetence of the courts, as wel
as |l egal guarantees, the right to seek renedies and the right to defence,

whi ch constituted the fundanental principles applied by Iraqgi courts. He
recalled that, during the war against Iran, Irag had set up a revolution court
whi ch had been abolished at the end of the war. Wen Irag had once again been
subj ected to a total war and experienced conditions that had been even nore
harrowi ng than those during the war against Iran, the CGovernnent had been
obliged to establish another court of special jurisdiction. That court,
however, was presided over by judges and its nmenbers were civilian judges from
the civil courts; the Advocate-General was also drawn fromthe civil court
system It applied the laws that were in force in Iraqi territory but its
deci sions were irrevocable. He enphasized that the court's exi stence was
expl ai ned by the situation prevailing in the country and that it would
certainly be abolished when that exceptional situation cane to an end.

25. The |l ast question in the first part of the |ist concerned the rights of
persons belonging to mnorities and the application of article 27 of the
Covenant. Menbers of the Conmittee would find further information on the
subject in the report submitted in June 1996 by Iraq to the Conmittee on the
El i m nati on of Racial Discrimnation (CERD/ C/ 240/ Add. 3) which gave details
about the rights of mnorities and the way in which they were protected by
Irag. The matter was also dealt with in paragraphs 84 to 86 of the fourth
periodic report. The human rights situation in Kurdistan and the |arge nunber
of rights enjoyed by the Kurds in the northern part of Irag showed that Iraq
experience renmai ned the nodel that should be adopted by adjacent States in
protecting the peace and security of the Kurds. As for the rights of the
Shi'a, Iraq considered that that question should not have been raised under
article 27 of the Covenant since they did not constitute a minority within the
meani ng of that article and since all Iraqgi citizens enjoyed the sane rights
wi t hout any discrimnation, regardless of their religion or beliefs.

26. The CHAI RPERSON gave the floor to nenbers of the Conmittee who wi shed to
put questions to or request clarification of the Iraqi del egation

27. M. EL SHAFEI, after welcomng the Iraqi del egation, noted that the
fourth periodic report very often referred to the Committee's genera

comments; that reflected a desire to know the views of the Conmittee and its
interpretation of the Covenant. It was also gratifying to note that the
report contained frequent references to judicial decisions. It also nentioned
various difficulties and the Governnent did not deny that they sometines
hanpered the inplenentation of the Covenant. Since the Iragi Covernnent was
wel | aware of how the Covenant should be inplenmented and interpreted, he
recalled that article 6 placed States parties which had not abolished the
deat h penalty under the obligation to inpose it only “for the nost serious
crimes”. Yet in Iraq the grounds for which the death penalty could be inposed
had been consi derably extended by a | arge nunber of decrees which were |isted
in paragraph 30 of the report. He wondered whether all those decrees were
still in force or whether sone had been repeal ed, since the punishnent they
provided for in certain cases - anputation or death - was out of al

proportion to the offence commtted.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 8

28. Wth respect to security of person, he noted that the Iragi Constitution
of fered the necessary guarantees by stating that a person could be arrested
only in accordance with the |aw and on the basis of a warrant issued by the
conpetent authority; however, information from non-governnental organizations
(NGOs) and the report of the Special Rapporteur of the Comr ssion on Human

Ri ghts on the situation of human rights in lIraq (E/ CN. 4/1997/57) reveal ed a
conpletely different picture of |arge nunbers of cases of torture and other
particularly serious violations. He wondered whether steps had been taken to
put an end to such violations and specifically whether a | aw expressly
prohibiting torture had been adopted. Iraq had not ratified the Convention
agai nst Torture and Ot her Cruel, |nhuman or Degradi ng Treatnent or Puni shnent
and he wondered whether it had failed to do so for a specific reason

29. The present Constitution guaranteed the right to freedom of expression
assenbly and association in one article and he noted that the authors of the
report recogni zed that sonme of those rights were not fully enjoyed in
practice. |Iraqg had adopted the single party political system Every State
was admittedly free to choose its political system but the Revolution Command
Council made it mandatory for State bodies and mnistries to align thenselves
with the party in power. |In the course of the negotiations on the denocratic
future of the Kurdistan Autononous Region a bill had been prepared on the
establishnent of political parties. |Its intention had been commendabl e but
its text had been too restrictive, since the executive would have had the
right to interfere in the affairs of political parties. The bill had not been
adopted but he wondered whether political parties had neverthel ess been
established in the Kurdistan Autononous Region and, if so, whether they had
been able to participate in all the consultations and el ections that had been
held in Iragqg.

30. Lastly, on the question of disappearances, the Iraqi del egation had
stated that a non-governnental conm ssion had been set up to undertake an

i nvestigation; that was not good enough since it was easy to i magi ne how nuch
authority a non-governnental body woul d be granted.

31. M. PRADO VALLEJO said that, having participated in the consideration of
Irag's three other periodic reports, he was obliged to note that the human
rights situation in the country had deteriorated. He of course regretted the
sanctions that had been inposed on the country, since they inevitably affected
t he popul ati on, and wondered whether a proportion of the proceeds of the
petroleum sales to which the Iraqi authorities were entitled was specifically
earmarked for children and wonen and for hospital and medical services. He
did not, however, believe that Iraq' s serious breaches of the obligations it
had assuned under the Covenant could be attributed to the sanctions.

32. Acts of violence and the serious violations perpetrated by menbers of
the arnmed forces were escalating. Hundreds of persons had been arrested
sinmply on suspicion and | arge nunbers had died in custody. Thousands of
persons had di sappeared, trials were being held in violation of judicia

guar antees and hundreds of persons were being done away with by nmeans of
extraj udicial executions sinply on suspicion. Although requested to do so by
the Conmttee, the authorities had never investigated conplaints alleging
serious violations. That in itself was a source of concern, but it was even
nore disturbing to note that the list of offences for which the death penalty



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 9

could be inposed had been considerably | engthened and that the usual reasons
given were of a public security or econom c nature (theft for exanple),

wher eas sone of those offences could even be regarded as being of m nor

i nportance. The acts constituting of fences punishable by death and listed in
par agraph 30 of the report were very vague and in addition the principle that
crimnal |egislation could not have retroactive effect - which was guaranteed
under article 15 of the Covenant - was al so being violated. Guarantees of
fair process were not respected and corporal punishment could be inflicted on
the basis of a court order; that constituted a flagrant violation of article 7

of the Covenant. It might well be that the provision under which such
puni shment could be inflicted was never applied in practice, but that was not
enough: it should be conpletely elinminated fromthe | egislative arsenal of

the State party. Furthernore, the existence of special courts was worrying;

it was unknown whether their hearings were public, whether their decisions
coul d be appeal ed in any way, whether the defendant was al ways assisted by a

| awyer and in what conditions mnors were tried. Lastly, the fact that there
was no news of the hundreds of persons detained i ncormuni cado and that nothing
was known of the whereabouts of the hundreds of thousands of Kurds who had

di sappeared constituted a crinme against humanity. The Conmittee had been

i nformed that a general ammesty had been proclained but it did not know

whet her the persons it covered had already spent |ong years in prison. The
authorities of the State party were under a duty to prevent the human rights
situation deteriorating further and to ensure that Iraq's citizens could enjoy
their rights.

33. M. TURK said he had read Iraq's fourth periodic report with interest

but regretted its brevity, since information on the actual situation was often
| acking. He pointed out in particular that paragraph 1 (d), in which the
State party indicated that the increase in the rates of all types of crine had
forced “the State to take punitive neasures of a deterrent, exceptional and
provi si onal nature”, should have been supplenented by a | ong expl anation of
the nature and scope of such neasures. Yet the explanation was |acking and no
figures had been given. Although it was understandabl e that the del egation
was unable to provide statistics in reply to witten questions, figures could
easily have been included in the report itself.

34. The question of arrest was of particular inportance, since the nost
serious violations of fundanental rights often occurred afterwards. 1In his
report (E/CN. 4/1997/57), the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human
rights in lraq listed many cases of arbitrary arrest and detention that had
been brought to his attention (paras. 10, 12 and 15 of his report).
Violations were therefore as serious as they were w despread and he wondered
whet her, in the context of the dialogue established with the Comrttee, the
I ragi Governnent had considered inviting representatives of human rights
nmonitoring bodies in order to dissipate m sunderstandi ngs.

35. Wth reference to the international sanctions inposed on Iraq, which
were discussed at length in the report but outside the Cormittee's conpetence,
he noted that there had been a nunber of new devel opments since the report

had been prepared (Novenmber 1996). A very inportant factor had been the
delay in inplenmentation of the arrangenent established by Security Counci
resolution 986 (1995). Under that arrangenent procedures were specified in
respect of the sale of petroleum and petrol eum products and for the purchase



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 10

of humanitarian supplies. However, during the first quarter of 1997

consi derabl e del ays had occurred and, in his report to the Security Counci
(S/1997/685) of Septenmber 1997, the Secretary-General had stated: “[...] the
deci sion by the Governnent of Irag to suspend the sale of oil [...] is
expected to result in a significant shortfall of funds” (para. 55), despite
adverse consequences for the humanitarian progranme. He referred to the
Committee's general comrent 6 on article 6, in which the Conmttee considered
it desirable that the States parties should adopt neasures “to elimnate

mal nutrition and epidem cs”, requested information on the Iraqgi Government's
policy in respect of the nmechani smestablished by Security Counci

resolution 986 (1995), and asked what steps were being taken to speed up
operations in order to mtigate the sufferings of the civilian population
Sanctions clearly constituted a blunt instrument with unintended effects, but
the sanctions inposed on Irag were in accordance with the Charter of the
United Nations and therefore legal, and their purpose was none other than that
proclaimed in the relevant resol utions, and specifically Security Counci
resolution 687 (1991). |If the delegation deemed it necessary once again to
refer to the sanctions it could al so nmake an effort to place the humanitarian
aspects of those sanctions in proper perspective and in particular indicate
speci fic measures that could be taken in view of the situation

36. M. El Shafei took the Chair.

37. Ms. EVATT said she was still exercised by a nunber of questions. Civi
and political rights and econonic, social and cultural rights were obviously

i nt erdependent, but the protection of certain rights could in no case justify
the violation of others. She regretted that the popul ati on had been caused so
much suffering by the international sanctions and the econom c enbargo, which
had affected many persons and particularly children, and she synpathized with
the Iraqgi people in their trouble. However, that situation further increased
the Governnent's responsibility to ensure respect for human rights, and
particularly for the rights of the child. She noted that the Cormittee had
unfortunately received no information from i ndependent sources within Iraq
itself and that neither the Special Rapporteur of the Conm ssion on Human

Ri ghts nor any independent expert had been authorized to visit the country to
determ ne how far the authorities were respecting the obligations they had
assuned under international |aw. She deplored the Iragi Governnent's attitude
and associated herself with the concern expressed by M. Tirk on the subject.
Specifically, various sources had reported mass arrests and executions
following the attenpted assassi nati on of Udai Saddam Hussein. Had the persons
suspected of involvenent in that affair been tried? Furthernore, had an

i nvestigati on been undertaken and proceedings initiated in connection with the
assassination of Hussein Kanel al Majid and his brother, Lieutenant Col one
Saddam Kanel in February 1996? Generally speaking, noreover, it was npst

di sturbing that the Special Rapporteur on Extrajudicial, Summary or Arbitrary
Executions had indicated that the nunber of arbitrary executions for politica
reasons had increased in 1996

38. Referring to the situation in lIraqi Kurdistan, she said it was conmon
know edge that the bonbardnment of Arbil by Iraqi armed forces in August 1996
had resulted in many civilian victinms. Persons who had happened to be in the
prem ses of opposition groups had apparently been executed and there were
reports of a nunber of arbitrary arrests as well as cases of torture. It was



CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1626
page 11

al so said that a |arge nunber of persons had fled to Iran. She would like to
know how many woren and children had perished during the attack, how many
persons had been forced to | eave the regi on and whether all egations of
violations of human rights by agents of the State had been investigated. What
steps had the Governnent taken to protect the popul ati on agai nst such acts?

39. She noted that a nunber of the punishments that could be inposed in Iraq
were not conpatible with the provisions of article 7 of the Covenant.
Specifically, deserters could be punished not only by anputation but al so by
brandi ng. Mreover, what had happened to the nedical students who had been
arrested for refusing to take part in the application of that form of

puni shment? She would also like to know whether article 3 of Decree No. 117
of 25 August 1994, according to which the punishment of anputation was
mentioned in a person's identity card, was still in force.

40. On the question of disappeared persons, of whomthere were severa
hundred thousand according to Amesty International (Kurdish civilians,

Kuwai tis taken by force to Iraq, persons arrested during the Arbil operations,
etc.), had the Iraqi Government taken steps to find a solution and punish the
guilty parties?

41. Lastly, it was her understanding that the special courts dealt with
econoni c of fences and could i npose the death penalty. Since their decisions
were apparently final and not subject to appeal where did the provisions of
article 14, paragraph 5 of the Covenant stand?

42. Ms. Chanet resuned the Chair.

43. M. KLEIN said that the report (CCPR/ C/ 103/ Add.2), even though it

contai ned a certain amount of specific information, was a di sappointnent. He
was struck by the fact that the picture presented by the Iraqi del egation of
respect for the rights enbodied in the Covenant failed to correspond in the
slightest to the description of the human rights situation in Iraq provided by
outsi de observers. Admttedly there were always a few di screpancies in such
cases, but in that of Irag the difference was staggering. He noted that,
according to the Special Rapporteur of the Comm ssion on Human Rights, there
continued to be systematic violation of the civil and political rights of the
Iraqi people and that freedom of opinion, expression, association and
assenbly did not exist in that country (see E/CN. 4/1997/57, para. 7). The

I nternational Comm ssion of Jurists, for its part, had deplored the conplete
denial of the right to life and had noted that human dignity was being
systematically flouted. Not only the information given in Iraq's fourth
periodic report (CCPR/ C/103/Add.?2) but also that provided orally by the Iraq
del egati on was sadly i nadequate on all those questions.

44, He was gratified that the Iraqi Governnent had, in its report,

enphasi zed the inportance of article 1 of the Covenant, which was regarded as
a perenptory principle of international Iaw. Yet a nunmber of concerns

remai ned, particularly on the subject of disappeared persons, and they had not
been dissipated by the Iraqi delegation's replies to question 1 in the |ist of
i ssues to be taken up (CCPRIC/61/QI1RQ4). It would seemthat the Iraqi
Government was not really worried by those di sappearances for otherw se it
woul d have taken steps to do sonething about them He wondered who was



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 12

authorized to collect information about di sappeared persons. Wre those who
did so intimdated or harassed? What conclusions could be drawn fromthe
results of their investigations?

45. He woul d also like to know how capital punishment was carried out,
whet her there were a nunber of nethods of execution and, if so, whether the
met hod deci ded upon depended on the type of crinme conmtted.

46. Mor eover, on the subject of torture, the Iraqi del egation had stated
that the legislation in force did not provide for punishment by brandi ng,
flogging or stoning. However, Amesty International had reported that the
anput ati on and branding of a man of 70, sentenced for the theft of a
tel evi sion set and cash, had been broadcast by Iraqgi national television in
1994. That contradicted what had been stated by the Iraqi del egation, and he
woul d be grateful if it would clarify the various points he had raised.

47. M_. ANDO observed that the report (CCPR/ ¢/ 103/ Add.2) was silent about
the application of article 26 of the Covenant. More generally, the Iraq

del egation had failed, at the neeting, to provide sufficient supplenentary
information to give nmenbers of the Conmittee a clear idea of the human rights
situation in the country. He endorsed npst of the questions put by the other
menbers of the Conmittee, and particularly those concerning arrests, detention
and di sappeared persons as well as various fornms of political persecution

Mor eover, he noted from paragraph 30 of the report that new categories of

of fences and in particular econonm c offences were at present punishable by
death. Could such offences really be regarded as bei ng anbng “t he npst
serious crimes” within the neaning of article 6 of the Covenant?

48. On the subject of the special courts, he noted that anong other things
they exercised jurisdiction in cases involving econom c offences referred to
them by the Ofice of the President of the Republic. He would like to know
what was meant by an economi c of fence and requested the Iraqi delegation to
gi ve exanples. The jurisdiction of the special courts, as described in

par agraph 57 of the report, was in his opinion extrenely disturbing since it
could give rise to abuses.

49. He emphasi zed the inportance of the provisions of article 19 of the
Covenant fromthe standpoint of participation in the conduct of public
affairs, and noted that the Special Rapporteur of the Comm ssion on Human

Ri ghts had stated that freedom of opinion and expression did not exist in Iraq
(see E/CN. 4/1997/57). He wondered what criteria and procedures were applied
in connection with the establishment of political parties. It was his
under st andi ng that the establishnent of a party on the basis of racial
regional, religious, anti-Arab and other considerations was prohibited.
Consequently, there could apparently be no Comruni st Party or Kurdish Party,
for example. Furthernore, the body responsible for authorizing the
establishnment of a party was the Council of Mnisters; its decisions in the
matter could be challenged but it would appear that those concerning Iraq's
supreme interests were not subject to judicial oversight. |In other words, the
courts were apparently not conpetent to exam ne the validity of an

aut horization or a refusal to grant an authorization to establish a party.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 13

He woul d be grateful if the Iraqi del egation could provide exanpl es of
aut hori zations or refusals to grant authorizations by the Council of
M ni sters.

50. M . KRETZMER endorsed nost of the questions already put by nenbers of
the Conmttee. He noted that, under the Constitution, the Revolution Command
Council was the supreme State body, and that it issued |egislative decrees, a
nunber of which carried the death sentence. How was that body el ected? Could
all citizens take part in the election of its nmenbers and stand for el ection
toit? Could political parties present candidates? Ws the mandate of the
Revol uti on Command Council limted and, if so, were elections held fromtine
to time? He also wondered to what extent the Council was required to respect
the provisions of the Constitution. Wat machinery guaranteed that its
decisions were in conformty not only with the Covenant but also with the
Iragi Constitution? The report (CCPR/ C/103/Add.2) mentioned a nunber of the
Council's decrees under which severe penalties were inposed. How could such
decrees be compatible with the Constitution and in particular with article 22,
whi ch stated that human dignity nust be safeguarded and that any form of
physical or nmental torture was prohibited? Which bodies were competent to
deci de whether the Council's decrees were conpatible with the Constitution?

51. Since, according to the Iraqgi delegation, the independence of the
judiciary was protected by law, he woul d appreciate clarification of the
foll owi ng points. By whomwere judges appoi nted? Were they appointed for
life? Could they be dismssed? Could the Revolution Command Council adopt
decrees inconpatible with a judicial decision?

52. On the question of disappeared persons, he endorsed M. Klein's
observati on concerning the discrepancy between the information supplied by the
Iragi authorities and that by other sources, and particularly by the Specia
Rapporteur of the Commi ssion on Human Rights. Moreover, since it was illega
to arrest and detain a person without a warrant in lraq, it could reasonably
be assuned that the courts were conpetent to exanmine conplaints submtted in
connection wth di sappearances. Was that so and had that indeed happened? He
woul d be grateful if the Iragi delegation could supply exanples of judicia
deci sions on the subject. He also wished to drawits attention to a nunmber of
cases of disappeared persons that had already been referred to the Iraq
authorities by various international bodies which had not so far received

any reply. There was, for exanple, the case of the witer and journalist

Azi z al -Sayyid Jassem 55 years of age, who had been arrested on 14 April 1991
and about whom not hi ng had been heard since. There was also Mazin ' Abd

al -Mun' i m Hassan al -Samarra'i, who had di sappeared in August 1988 and whose
case had been | ooked into by the Wirking G oup on Enforced or I|nvoluntary

Di sappearances. O her exanples included Gewargis Morm z Oraha, Yousip Adam
Khamo, Am ra Kora Qdi sho, Shinon Khoshaba al - Hozi, Petros Elia Toma and

Wl liam Matti Barkho, who belonged to the Assyrian community and were nenbers
of the Presidential Guard and were said to be suspected of having participated
in the attenpted assassinati on of President Saddam Hussein in 1996. He would
appreciate information about all those persons and wi shed to know in
particul ar whether their di sappearances had been investigated and, if so, with
what result. Lastly, he noted that a nunber of persons had been arrested



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 14

during the neasures taken by the CGovernnment against the popul ati on of Arbi
and that nothing had been heard of themsince. There again information about
t hem woul d be wel cone.

53. Ms. MEDINA QU ROGA said she was aware of the suffering of the Iraq
peopl e, with whom she synpat hi zed, and enphasi zed that the Governnent nust do
not hing to aggravate the hardshi ps they were al ready experiencing.

54. In her view, the report of Iraq (CCPR/ C/ 103/ Add.2) threw no light on the
human rights situation. Reference was nmade to a nunmber of |aws, but their
content was unclear. For exanple, paragraph 38 (e) suggested that
perpetrators of political offences could be sentenced to death; that was

wi t hout any doubt incompatible with article 6 of the Covenant; the list of
acts punishable by death in Irag was also at variance with that article.
Furthernore, since acceding to the Covenant, lraq had added new of fences to
the list, and that too was contrary to that instrument. Generally speaking,
it woul d appear that human rights were not really protected in Irag. The
Iragi delegation had referred to the interdependence of civil and politica
rights and social, economic and cultural rights, but she pointed out that
civil rights and political rights were also interdependent.

55. She associ ated herself with the questions put by Ms. Evatt concerning
the application of articles 6 and 7 of the Covenant and those raised by

M. Klein concerning ways in which capital punishment was carried out. She
al so endorsed M. Kretzmer's questions concerning the Revol uti on Command
Council, to which she would add the followi ng: <could that Council or any

ot her body dism ss a judge? She was under the inpression that it could do so
but woul d appreciate clarification of the matter

56. She woul d al so appreciate information on the conposition and
jurisdiction of the special courts referred to in paragraph 57 of the report,
and al so on how their judges were appointed. Was there a body before which
their decisions could be appealed? It seened that Iraq had other types of
speci al courts apart fromthose nmentioned in the report, since according to
certain sources various persons had been sentenced to death by special courts
subordinate to the Mnistry of the Interior and the Mnistry of Defence. Ws
that so? Mreover, in order to dissipate any m sunderstandi ngs, she al so
asked the Iraqi delegation to explain how the judiciary functioned.

57. Lastly, referring to article 19 of the Covenant, she would |like to know
whet her Revol uti on Command Council Decree No. 840, which constituted a serious
vi ol ati on of freedom of expression, was still in force.

58. M. BHAGMTI said that the sole purpose of the questions and
observations of menbers of the Conmittee was to stinmulate the dialogue with
the representatives of the Iraqgi Governnent with a view to the inprovenent of
the human rights situation in the country. Iraq was adnmttedly experiencing
difficulties owing to the econom ¢ enbargo, yet they could not justify the
violation of the rights enbodied in the Covenant. Iraqg had acceded to that
instrument and its authorities should therefore ensure that all its provisions
wer e respected.




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1626
page 15

59. He associated hinself with the questions put by other nenbers of the
Committee, and in particular by M. Kretzmer. According to the NGOs and ot her
sources, the rights enbodied in the Iragi Constitution existed only on paper
He woul d like to know what was the exact status of the Covenant in the
country, whether it was an integral part of domestic |aw and whether it was
directly applicable by Iraqi courts. Furthernore, could a presidential decree
be chall enged on the grounds that it was contrary to the provisions of the
Covenant ? Generally speaking, were decrees subject to judicial oversight?

60. It appeared that the judgenments of the special courts were final and not
subject to appeal. How could that be conpatible with the provisions of
article 14 of the Covenant? Moreover, Decrees Nos. 39 and 111 of the

Revol uti on Command Council stated that persons accused of certain serious
crinmes could be tried by a special court subordinate to the Mnistry of the
Interior or the Mnistry of Defence. It seenmed that such courts were not the
sanme as those nentioned in paragraph 57 of the report, and he woul d appreciate
clarification of the matter. Furthernore, it appeared that the charges
brought by and the judgenents of the special courts were not nmade public. He
asked whet her that was so and al so how the judges of such courts were
appointed. Did they have a great deal of experience and were the persons
tried by the special courts entitled to |egal aid?

61. Moreover, it was extrenely inportant to know whether or not punishnments
entailing anputation of the hand or foot, ablation of the ear and branding
were still applied in lraq. The fact that a number of decrees providing for

that type of punishnment had not been repeal ed suggested that they were stil

in force, and in any event the idea of televising a punishnment was horrifying.
Mor eover, a number of decrees of the Revolution Command Council had inposed
new puni shnents for new offences, with retroactive effect. How could that be
conpatible with the provisions of article 15 of the Covenant?

62. He requested information about possibilities of enploynent for nenbers
of lraq' s Kurdish, Turkish and Assyrian mnorities. What proportion of the
Iraqi popul ation and the civil service did those minorities represent?
Lastly, was Revolution Command Council Decree No. 95, which prohibited wonen
fromholding certain jobs, still in force?

63. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited nmenbers of the Conmittee to continue their
consi deration of the fourth periodic report of Iraq (CCPR/ C/ 103/ Add.2) at the
next neeting.

The neeting rose at 1.05 p. m




